# **RECEIVED**

12-16-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1642-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PETER J. KING, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Sauk County Circuit Court, the Honorable Wendy J.N. Klicko, Presiding.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MARK R. THOMPSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1107841

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 thompsonm@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

###

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Peter J. King, Jr. has been subject a condition of extended supervision which significantly restricted his access to the Internet and from owning any device capable of accessing the Internet. Is this condition of extended supervision unconstitutionally overbroad because it violates Mr. King's constitutional and less restrictive alternatives rights reasonably related to Mr. King's rehabilitation exist?

After a hearing, the circuit court held that the condition did not violate Mr. King's constitutional rights, and denied Mr. King's motion to vacate the condition of extended supervision. (118:17–18; App. 111–12).

II. Did circuit court err as a matter of law when it concluded that the decision in  $Packingham^1$  was not applicable to individuals on supervision and therefore did not amount to a new factor for the purposes of sentence modification?

After a hearing, the circuit court denied Mr. King's motion for sentence modification. (118: 17–18; App. 111–12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Packingham v. North Carolina, 582 U.S. \_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1735 (2017).

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. King would welcome oral argument should this court desire it. Publication will likely be merited, as this case presents an issue of first impression in Wisconsin.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 2005, Mr. King was charged with one count of child enticement ("Count 1"), one count of use of a computer to facilitate child sex crime ("Count 2"), and one count of misdemeanor possession of THC ("Count 3"). (1:1). The complaint alleged that Mr. King, who was 44 years old at the time, attempted to arrange, through an internet chat application, a sexual encounter with a 15-year-old girl, who was actually an undercover police officer. (1:2–3).

In February 2007, a jury convicted Mr. King of each count (20:1; 21:1; 22:1).2 In April 2007, the circuit court. the Honorable James presiding, sentenced Mr. King. On Count 2, the court sentenced Mr. King to four years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision.

 $^2$  Mr. King filed a postconviction motion seeking a new trial, which the circuit court denied following a hearing. (46:1). Mr. King appealed, and this court affirmed the postconviction

court's ruling and Mr. King's convictions. (61; 60:1).

(110:26: 58:1: 78:2).<sup>3</sup> On Count 1, the court withheld sentence and placed Mr. King on ten years of probation, consecutive to the sentence in Count 2. (110:26; 57:1; 78:1).

As a condition of extended supervision and probation, the court ordered Mr. King to register as a sex offender. (110:27). The court also imposed a blanket prohibition on "use or access to a computer that has Internet access, either be it at your residence of place of employment, and any computer access is to be reported to your supervising agent. Computer access would include a cell phone that permits computer access." (110:27).

December 2009, the court issued an amendment to Mr. King's condition of supervision regarding computer and internet The amendment provided for "Internet access at a job application purposes center for only of business of which defendant wishes to work

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The original judgments of conviction erroneously interchanged the sentences on Counts 1 and 2. See (42:1: 43:1). Corrected judgments of conviction were issued on March 18, 2009, but those judgements erroneously stated that the probationary period in Count 1 was to run consecutive to "Ct. 1 extended supervision," (57:1), and Count 2 was to run "consecutive to Ct. 1 probation," (58:1). In 2016, the court noted this error and issued an order amending the judgments of convictions to reflect that Mr. King serve the eight-year sentence on Count 2, followed by a consecutive ten-year period of probation on Count 1. (76:1-2). In accordance with the court's order, corrected judgements of conviction were entered. (78: 1-3).

for application purposes only, per agent." (59:1).<sup>4</sup> Mr. King was still prohibited from internet use anywhere else or for any other purpose, and from owning or accessing any devices that were capable of accessing the internet. *See* (59:1; 78:2).

While Mr. King was on extended supervision for Count 2, he was revoked and reconfined twice for accessing the internet and using social media, for renting property for a business without approval, and for possessing devices capable of accessing the internet. (80:5, 6). He was not charged with any new criminal offenses during that time period. *See* (80:5–6).

Mr. King was released to supervision on Count 2 in Sauk County in 2014. (80:6). During this time, Mr. King had difficulty finding employment in Sauk County, and he was homeless for a period of time. (80:6). In 2015, he enrolled in a transitional housing program for veterans in Rock County, during which time he obtained employment, completed primary sex offender treatment, and engaged in sex offender aftercare treatment. See (80:6, 10).

Mr. King was discharged from extended supervision in July 2016, and he began his ten-year period of probation on Count 1. (80:6). When the veterans program ended in late 2016, Mr. King's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. King's amended judgments of conviction did not include any reference to internet use at a job center solely for application purposes; instead, the conditions provided the same blanket ban on internet use and access to computers or phones capable of accessing the internet. *See* (57:1, 58:1; 78:1–2).

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 11 of 38

agent directed him to return to Sauk County. *See* (80:7). He lost his employment and he was placed on GPS monitoring because he was homeless and living in a camper. *See* (80:8; 81:10–11).

A revocation order and warrant was filed on January 8, 2018, which recommended that Mr. King receive a 12- to 16-year sentence. (80:11). The revocation order and warrant explained that Mr. King's probation was being revoked because he accessed social media websites, possessed devices with Internet access, started a business without agent approval, started an online relationship with a female without agent approval, and was not forthcoming with his agent about his Internet use. See (80: 4–9). Mr. King was not charged with any new criminal offenses prior or subsequent to his revocation. See (80:5–6, 9; 91:8 n.6).

As rationales for the sentencing recommendation, the revocation summary posited that Mr. King needed to be punished and the community needed to be protected from him because he "uses the [I]nternet for sexual deviancy or to seek out and manipulate teenage girls." (80:10, 11). The revocation order and warrant did not, however, identify any instances of such conduct aside from the 2005 conduct which led to his convictions. *See* (80: 4–11).

A sentencing after revocation of probation hearing was subsequently held, the Honorable Wendy J.N. Klicko, presiding. The court summarized Mr. King's prior convictions, noted that he had "been Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 12 of 38

on probation in the past and ha[s] been revoked," and acknowledged that Mr. King is a discharged veteran who completed sex offender treatment. (117:28–29; App. 123–24).

The court acknowledged that Mr. King made significant efforts to obtain employment and find stability, but he was "bounc[ed] back and forth between Sauk and Rock County, and attempting to meet his probation rules." (117:30; App. 125). The court explained that the rules of Mr. King's supervision were meant to be "protective of society and . . . for the defendant not to reoffend in the manner that resulted in the original criminal charge and conviction." (117:30; App. 125). Specific to internet usage, the court found that those conditions were "the most important" because they dealt with "engaging or having access to those very tools" that lead to his charges. (117:31). It noted that the court previously made allowances for Mr. King to use the internet to find employment, but he chose to have "unfettered" access. (117:32; App. 127).

The court sentenced Mr. King to four years of confinement and four years of supervision. (117:33; App. 128). It ordered that all conditions of probation that were previously in place were conditions of extended supervision. (117:33; App. 128).

Mr. King subsequently filed a postconviction motion asserting that his condition of extended supervision regarding internet usage should be removed because it was unconstitutionally overbroad. (91:1, 8–11). The motion also sought resentencing.

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 13 of 38

(91: 1, 12–14). As an alternative to resentencing, Mr. King moved the court to reduce his sentence on the basis that the condition regarding internet use that he violated was unconstitutional under the holding in under *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 582 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1730 (2017) and was overbroad. (91:1, 14–17).

After briefing, the court held a hearing on Mr. King's postconviction motion. (118). The court denied Mr. King's motion for resentencing. (118:14; App. 108). With regard to Mr. King's motion to remove his supervision condition regarding internet use, the court determined that Mr. King's First Amendment rights were not unconstitutionally constrained by the conditions restricting his internet access. (118:17; App. 111). Specifically, it found that the decision in *Packingham* was limited to "someone who has served their sentence, and then is on the Registry and there's a statute," and Mr. King's case dealt with a condition of extended supervision where "courts are allowed to put into place certain conditions of supervision that may curtail someone's rights when they have been convicted." (118:17–18; App. 111–12). The court applied that same reasoning regarding the decision in *Packingham* to deny Mr. King's motion to modify his sentence. (118:17–18; App. 111–12).

The court then acknowledged that modification of Mr. King's conditions of extended supervision<sup>5</sup> would be appropriate because "the internet is very different now than it was even a couple of years ago" and his condition curtailed "some perhaps valid access that a defendant may need to have." (118:18; App. 112). The court then left the record open to allow the parties to submit proposed conditions of supervision related to internet use. (118:20–23; App. 114–17).

Following additional submissions bv the parties, the court issued a written decision and order. The order explained that Mr. King's motions to vacate his condition of extended supervision and for resentencing were denied for the reasons stated on the record. (95:1; App. 104). The court's order modified Mr. King's condition of extended supervision to permit access to the internet or devices capable of accessing the internet at his agent's discretion. (95:2; App. 105). The court's order further provided that Mr. King's agent should not restrict Mr. King's "access through public devices for purposes of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mr. King moved solely to vacate his condition of extended supervision; he did not move the court to modify the condition because such a request would have been premature. See Wis. Stat. § 302.113(7m)(e)1. (stating that a person may not petition to modify extended supervision conditions earlier than one year before the scheduled date of release to extended supervision); see also State v. Fisher, 2005 WI App 175, ¶¶8– 14, 285 Wis. 2d 433, 702 N.W.2d 56 (stating that Wis. Stat. § 302.133(7m)(e)1. does not apply when a person seeks to abolish—rather than modify—a condition of extended supervision).

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 15 of 38

obtaining employment or performing any legitimate government functions such as filing taxes or renewing driver's license or license plates, etc." (95:2; App. 105). An amended judgment of conviction consistent with the court's order was entered. (96; App. 102). Mr. King's appeal followed. (98).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Condition of Extended Supervision Prohibiting Access to Social Media Sites Must Be Vacated Because It Is Unconstitutional and the Result of an Erroneous Exercise of Discretion.
  - A. Legal principles and standard of review

Sentencing courts have discretion to impose conditions of supervision that are reasonable and appropriate. State v. Stewart, 2006 WI App 67, ¶11, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165. Accordingly, conditions of supervision are reviewed using the erroneous exercise of discretion standard, and the validity and reasonableness of a condition is measured by how well it serves the objectives of supervision—namely, rehabilitation and protection of the community interest. Id. An exercise of discretion is erroneous if it is based on an error of fact or law. Zardner v. Humana Ins. Co., 2010 WI 35, ¶21, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 782 N.W.2d 682.

An individual on supervision does not enjoy the same degree of liberty as a regular citizen does, but he still maintains his constitutional rights. Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 16 of 38

Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 482 (1972); Samson v. California, 547 U.S. 843, 850 n.2 (2006). Conditions of supervision "may impinge upon constitutional rights as long as they are not overly broad and are reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation." Stewart, 291 Wis. 2d 480, ¶12. Whether a particular condition of supervision violates a person's constitutional rights is a question of law which appellate courts review de novo. Id. (citing State v. Lo, 228 Wis. 2d 531, 534, 599 N.W.2d 659 (Ct. App. 1999)).

B. The condition of extended supervision restricting all social media use is unconstitutional because it infringes on Mr. King's First Amendment Rights under *Packingham*.

Since he was first sentenced in 2007, Mr. King has been subject to conditions of extended supervision which significantly restricted his access to the Internet and devices capable of accessing the Internet. These prohibitions on Internet use—specifically with respect to the fact that they imposed a blanket ban on access to social media—violated Mr. King's First Amendment rights.

The First Amendment protects a person's right to use the Internet. "A fundamental principle of the First Amendment is that *all* persons have access to places where they can speak and listen, and then, after reflection, speak and listen once more." *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 582 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1735 (2017). In 2017, the United States

Supreme Court said that while "in the past there may have been difficulty in identifying the most important places (in a spatial sense) for the exchange of views, today the answer is clear. It is cyberspace—the 'vast democratic forums of the Internet' in general, and social media in particular." *Id.* (citations omitted). The centrality of access to the Internet to function in today's world is further illustrated by popular publications ceasing print distribution and adopting all-digital formats, 6 and courts throughout Wisconsin transitioning to mandatory electronic filing starting in 2016.7

In *Packingham*, the Court recognized the widespread use of the Internet and social media in the modern age, and struck down a law that prohibited registered sex offenders from using social media sites like Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter because that ban infringed on an offender's First Amendment right to freedom of speech. *Id.* at 1737. The Court in *Packingham* found that "[t]hese websites can provide perhaps the most powerful mechanisms available to a private citizen to make his or her voice heard." *Id.* at 1737. Accordingly, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., Tina Brown & Baba Shetty, A Turn of the Page for Newsweek, THE DAILY BEAST, Oct. 18, 2012 (updated July 14, 2017), https://www.thedailybeast.com/a-turn-of-the-page-for-newsweek.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Jean Bousquet & Marcia Vandercook, *Are You Ready? Mandatory E-filing in Effect July 1*, WISCONSIN LAWYER, June 1, 2016, https://www.wisbar.org/NewsPublications/Wisconsin Lawyer/Pages/Article.aspx?Volume=89&Issue=6&ArticleID=24 909.

Court found that prohibiting registered sex offenders from using social media "bars access to what for many are the principle sources for knowing current events, checking ads for employment, speaking and listening in the modern public square, and otherwise exploring the vast realms of human thought and knowledge." *Id*.

When the circuit court denied Mr. King's motion to vacate his restrictive supervision condition, it determined that his case was distinguishable from *Packingham* because the latter involved "someone who has served their sentence, and then is on the Registry and there's a statute." (118:17; App. 111). The circuit court's reasoning, however, was inconsistent with the language used by the Court in *Packingham*—none of which suggests that its holding was limited to the circumstances discussed by the circuit court at the postconviction hearing.

Although the petitioner in *Packingham* had already completed his sentence, the law at issue in that case applied to both sex offender registrants who had completed their sentences and sex offender registrants on supervision. *See* N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This reasoning was consistent with the state's argument during postconviction litigation, which relied on decisions from the Second, Fifth, Eighth, and Eleventh Circuit Courts of Appeals. (118:24); (92:4) (citing *United States v. Browder*, 866 F.3d 504, 511 n.26 (2d Cir. 2017), *United States v. Halverson*, 897 F.3d 645, 658 (5th Cir. 2018), *United States v. Carson*, 924 F.3d 467, 473 (8th Cir. 2019), *United States v. Washington*, 763 F. App'x 870, 872, 2019 WL 1110834 (11th Cir. 2019) (per curium)(unpublished)).

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 19 of 38

§§ 14-202.5(a) (making it "unlawful for a sex offender who is registered" to access certain social media sites), 14-208.7(a) (stating that individuals with "reportable convictions" are required to register), 14-208.6(4) (defining a "reportable conviction" as a "final conviction" in a state or federal jurisdiction). Notably, the Court's opinion did not distinguish between the two, but instead held that "[a] fundamental First Amendment principle is that *all* persons have access to places where they can speak and listen"—not just those who have completed serving their sentences. *Packingham*, 137 S. Ct 1732. (emphasis added).

When the Court in Packingham specified who can benefit from access to social media, it wrote "[e]ven convicted criminals—and in some instances especially convicted criminals—might receive legitimate benefits from these means for access to the world of ideas, in particular if they seek to reform themselves and pursue lawful and rewarding lives." Id. "Convicted criminals," without further qualification from the Court—such as convicted criminals who have completed their sentences, a term which the Court used the preceding sentence—thus includes individuals who have reentered society and are still under supervision. See id. at 1737.

Moreover, the Court's emphasis on convicted criminals as *particularly* well-suited to benefit from social media to "reform themselves," *id.*, reflects the rehabilitative goals of supervision. *See, e.g., United States v. Knights*, 534 U.S. 112, 119 (2001) (listing "rehabilitation and protecting society from future

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-16-2019 Page 20 of 38

violations" as the "primary goals" of supervision); see also Stewart, 291 Wis. 2d 480, ¶11 (stating that the objectives of supervision are, primarily, rehabilitation and protection of the public). Although the opinion in Packingham does not expressly speak to the First Amendment rights of supervisees, the premise of the Court's opinion—that social media is a powerful channel of First Amendment expression and the right to receive information for those reintegrating into society—is plainly applicable in the realm of supervision.

The two specific mentions of sex offender registrants who have completed their sentences do not expressly cabin the holding in the manner interpreted by the circuit court here. First, the Court in Packingham noted it was "troubling" that "the [North Carolina] law imposes severe restrictions on persons who have already served their sentence and are no longer subject to the supervision of the criminal justice system," but then noted that this was "not an issue before the Court." 137 S. Ct. at 1737; see also Millard v. Rankin, 265 F. Supp. 3d 1211, 1228 (D. Colo. 2017) (using the Court's statement as evidence that, as a matter of first impression, it would need to answer a question that the Supreme Court had left open). Second, the Court said "[i]t is unsettling to suggest that only a limited number of websites can be used even by persons who have completed their sentences," but the court then made reference to the afore-discussed broader statement about the internet's utility for "convicted criminals" as a whole. *Packingham*, 137 S. Ct. at 1737.

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