RECEIVED 03-17-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1642-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PETER J. KING, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN SAUK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WENDY J.N. KLICKO, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SONYA BICE LEVINSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1058115

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Packingham does not require this Court to vacate King's supervision condition restricting his internet use except with agent approval.
 - A. *Packingham*'s holding concerned a statute imposing a broad ban on all sex offenders.

Packingham held unconstitutional a state statute that criminalized access to certain social media sites for all sex offenders, including those who had completed their sentences. Packingham v. North Carolina, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1733–34, 1737 (2017). The Court noted that the case "is one of the first this Court has taken to address the relationship between the First Amendment and the modern Internet." Id. at 1736.

After discussing the prominent role of social media in modern society, the Court concluded that the statute violated the First Amendment because "[b]y prohibiting sex offenders from using those websites, [the state] with one broad stroke bars access to what for many are the principal sources for knowing current events, checking ads for employment, speaking and listening in the modern public square, and otherwise exploring the vast realms of human thought and knowledge." *Id.* at 1737.

Whether or not King's internet probation condition is constitutional under Packingham is a legal issue subject to this Court's plenary review. $See\ Stewart$, 291 Wis. 2d 480, ¶ 12.

B. As courts in other jurisdictions have held, Packingham does not foreclose supervision conditions like the one in this case.

King concedes that *Packingham* "does not expressly speak to the First Amendment rights of supervisees," but he argues that "the premise of the Court's opinion—that social media is a powerful channel of First Amendment expression

and the right to receive information for those reintegrating into society—is plainly applicable in the realm of supervision." (King's Br. 14.) He argues that the supervision condition imposed on him imposes "blanket prohibitions [on] internet use and access" just like the statute struck down in *Packingham* and therefore must be vacated. (King's Br. 15.) But he reads more into *Packingham*'s holding than any jurisdiction has found there.

Packingham has been interpreted and applied by numerous courts. 5 As noted in the State's response to the postconviction motion, almost all the federal courts of appeals interpreting *Packingham* have held that it simply does not apply to supervised release conditions limiting internet use in individual cases. Furthermore, most of these cases have uniformly refused to apply Packingham where the defendant's post-sentence internet access is not affected. See United States v. Browder, 866 F.3d 504, 511 n.26 (2d Cir. 2017) ("Packingham is not directly on point. It involved an internet ban . . . and that ban extended beyond the completion of a sentence."); United States v. Halverson, 897 F.3d 645, 658 (5th Cir. 2018) ("Because supervised release is part of Halverson's sentence (rather than a post-sentence penalty) ... we find that *Packingham* does not . . . apply to the supervised-release context."); United States v. Carson, 924 F.3d 467, 473 (8th Cir. 2019) ("Because supervised release is part of a defendant's sentence, Packingham does not render a district court's restriction on access to the internet during a term of supervised release plain error."); United States v.

⁵ This court has discussed *Packingham*'s holding in the context of a challenge to a statute's constitutionality. It rejected a First Amendment challenge to a provision of the Wisconsin sex offender registry statute, Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)6m. (2017–18) requiring registrants to disclose e-mail addresses, Internet user names, Internet profiles, and websites created or maintained by the registrant. *State v. Jackson*, 2020 WI App 4, ¶ 1.

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2020 Page 17 of 25

Peterson, 776 F. App'x 533, 534 & n.2 (9th Cir. 2019) (citation omitted) (calling defendant's reliance on Packingham "misguided" and upholding a prohibition on computer possession because the district court has "broad discretion in setting conditions of supervised release, including restrictions that infringe on fundamental rights"); United States v. Washington, 763 F. App'x 870, 872 (11th Cir. 2019) ("The Supreme Court in Packingham considered dissimilar issues and did not 'directly resolv[e]' whether conditions . . . are constitutional."); United States v. Rock, 863 F.3d 827, 831 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (upholding supervised-release condition barring access to the internet without agent approval because it was "part of [a] supervised-release sentence" and therefore unaffected by Packingham's holding).

The Third and Fourth Circuits have found that supervised-release conditions restricting internet access are invalid under *Packingham*. But those courts did not hold that such conditions are invalid per se, rather they held that the particular conditions at issue were overly broad. Accordingly, the courts remanded the cases to the district court for more complete factual development of the basis for the conditions imposed, more narrowly tailored conditions, or both. See, e.g., United States v. Wroblewski, 781 F. App'x 158, 163–64 (4th Cir. 2019) (vacating and remanding for further proceedings where the district court provided no explanation for the imposition of the condition and there was no "evidence that computers or the internet played any role in [the] offense"); United States v. Holena, 906 F.3d 288, 291 (3d Cir. 2018) (noting the "sparse record" and remanding for the district court to "make findings to support any restrictions it chooses to impose on Holena's internet and computer use").

In this case, King's internet restriction is constitutional and not prohibited by *Packingham* for several reasons. First, it is part of supervision while he is serving a sentence, not after it is completed. Second, his underlying crime involved

the use of the internet to solicit sex from someone he thought was a minor; therefore, the condition imposed very reasonably restricted him from using the tools of his crime. Third, King had repeated revocations for violating the internet restriction condition throughout the sentence, at least one of which arose from his attempt to use the internet for sex. Fourth, the condition was not a blanket ban, but permitted some internet use without his agent's permission. And, finally, the condition permitted any internet use his agent approved. In light of the facts in this case, *Packingham*'s holding does not require vacating the internet condition.

Page 18 of 25

II. The condition imposed on King is constitutional because it is narrowly tailored and is reasonably related to the goals of supervision.

A. Standard of review.

Conditions of extended supervision are reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard to determine their validity and reasonableness measured by how well they serve their objectives: rehabilitation and protection of the state and community interest. Stewart, 291 Wis. 2d 480, ¶ 11. Whether a particular condition violates a defendant's constitutional right is a question of law and is reviewed de novo. Id.

B. Legal principles.

Sentencing courts have wide discretion and may impose any conditions of probation or supervision that appear to be reasonable and appropriate. *State v. Nienhardt*, 196 Wis. 2d 161, 167, 537 N.W.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1995); *State v. Koenig*, 2003 WI App 12, ¶ 7, 259 Wis. 2d 833, 656 N.W.2d 499.

⁶ One rule violation for which King was revoked was having a profile on the website "sugardaddyforme.com." (R. 80:6.)

13

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2020 Page 19 of 25

The conditions may impinge upon constitutional rights as long as they are not overly broad and are reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation. *Stewart*, 291 Wis. 2d 480, ¶ 12. Convicted felons do not enjoy the same degree of liberty as those individuals who have not been convicted of a crime. *State v. Oakley*, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 17, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200.

When evaluating the constitutionality of restrictions on speech, courts employ the intermediate-scrutiny test, which allows the government to impose reasonable, content-neutral restrictions on speech that are "narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest, and that . . . leave open ample alternative channels for communication of the information." Ward v. Rock Against Racism, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989). "To satisfy this standard, a regulation need not be the least speech-restrictive means of advancing the Government's interests." Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. F.C.C., 512 U.S. 622, 662 (1994). "Rather, the requirement of narrow tailoring is satisfied 'so long as the . . . regulation promotes a substantial government interest that would be achieved less effectively absent the regulation." Id. (citation omitted). "Narrow tailoring in this context requires, in other words, that the means chosen do not 'burden substantially more speech than is necessary to further the government's legitimate needs." *Id.* (citation omitted).

C. The State has a well-recognized and significant interest in protecting the public from recidivist sex offenders.

The purpose of Wisconsin's sex offender registry statute is to effectuate an "intent to protect the public and assist law enforcement"; it is "related to community protection"; and is designed to "further the governmental interests of public safety and enhance strategies for crime detection and prevention." *State v. Smith*, 2010 WI 16, ¶ 26, 323 Wis. 2d

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2020 Page 20 of 25

377, 780 N.W.2d 90; see also State ex rel. Kaminski v. Schwarz, 2001 WI 94, ¶ 41, 245 Wis. 2d 310, 630 N.W.2d 164. This general purpose is well-recognized as a legitimate, substantial public interest. Smith, 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶ 26. "The prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse of children constitutes a government objective of surpassing importance." New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 757 (1982); see also Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 90 (2003) (noting that since 1996 every state in the nation had enacted sex offender registry statutes).

King does not dispute the legitimacy of the State's substantial interest; he instead claims that the condition is not narrowly tailored to advance that interest and therefore violates his right to free speech. As discussed below, he is wrong.

D. The condition is narrowly tailored to achieve the State's interest.

As described above, the circuit court gave careful consideration to King's postconviction motion, with particular attention to the scope of the internet restriction. At the postconviction hearing, the circuit court acknowledged that without modification the condition did "curtail some perhaps valid access that a defendant may need to have" and in addition to job searches, "there may be other valid uses that you can only do through the internet." (R. 118:18.) The court added, "The question is how to get at that and still allow the protection of the public, which the Court does believe is appropriate and tailored to this particular offense and this particular defendant's history with that." (R. 118:18–19.)

King had made specific arguments at the postconviction hearing: "Practically speaking, he can't file taxes. He can't do online banking. He can't even access CCAP in order to check the status of his case were he out in the community." (R. 118:5–6.) In response to these points, the circuit court ultimately modified the condition substantially to permit

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2020 Page 21 of 25

access to "legitimate government functions" and to allow possession of internet-enabled devices and additional access to the internet as approved by his agent. (R. 95:2.)

King's argument that the State should rely on the internet restrictions in the sex offender statute misses the point. The State has a legitimate interest, given the specific facts of this case, to monitor King's internet activity more closely than Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)(6m. provides for. Importantly, a restriction on free speech need not be the *least* speech-restrictive option in order to be constitutional. *See Turner Broad. Sys., Inc.*, 512 U.S. at 662.

In light of the facts and circumstances in this case (King's convictions for using the internet to solicit sex from minors and his history of repeated revocations for refusing to comply with internet restrictions) the circuit court's final order satisfies the governing constitutional test because it imposes a narrowly tailored condition that serves a significant governmental interest.

III. The condition does not violate King's constitutional right to association.

As an initial matter, this court has stated that it does not "decide the validity of constitutional claims that are broadly stated but not specifically argued." *Nienhardt*, 196 Wis. 2d at 168 (citation omitted). King's argument about the right to association is such an argument. (King's Br. 15–17.) His argument consists only of a four-paragraph summary of the law recognizing a constitutional right to freedom of association followed by an assertion that limiting his internet access and banning social media "limits his ability to develop or strengthen family relationships and personal friendships." (King's Br. 17.) He has not cited any law for the proposition that persons on supervision have an absolute right to freedom of association that cannot be abridged by supervision conditions. Because King's argument is not adequately

Case 2019AP001642 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-17-2020 Page 22 of 25

developed, this Court need not reach it and the State need not respond to it. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Jones*, 2002 WI App 196, \P 38 n.6, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305.

If this court reaches this argument, it should hold that this constitutional right, like all others, can be limited so long as the supervision condition imposed is narrowly tailored and reasonably related to King's rehabilitation. In addition to non-internet methods of developing and strengthening interpersonal relationships, the condition allows King any internet use that his agent approves for these purposes.

IV. King is not entitled to sentence modification because he has not shown a new factor.

A. Standard of review and legal principles.

Wisconsin circuit courts have inherent authority to modify criminal sentences. $State\ v.\ Harbor$, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. A court may base a sentence modification upon the defendant's showing of a "new factor." Id. "Deciding a motion for sentence modification based on a new factor is a two-step inquiry." Id. ¶ 36. "The defendant has the burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor." Id. "Whether the fact or set of facts put forth by the defendant constitutes a 'new factor' is a question of law." Id.

"The existence of a new factor does not automatically entitle the defendant to sentence modification." Id. ¶ 37. "Rather, if a new factor is present, the circuit court determines whether that new factor justifies modification of the sentence." Id. "In making that determination, the circuit court exercises its discretion." Id.

B. *Packingham* does not apply to conditions of supervision and therefore does not constitute a new factor.

Neither party addressed *Packingham* at King's revocation sentencing hearing. King argues that he is therefore entitled to a sentence modification because *Packingham* is relevant "in light of the conduct for which he was revoked and the court's rationale for imposing the sentence it did." (King's Br. 23.) He argues that the "court's sentencing after revocation and postconviction rationales conflicted with the holding announced in *Packingham*," and therefore he has established a new factor warranting sentence modification. (King's Br. 26.)

His argument is based on an incorrect premise, which is that *Packingham* holds that persons on supervision have an absolute constitutional right to access the internet. As explained above, that is not an interpretation that has been adopted by any court that has addressed the question.

Packingham did not magically turn all of King's prior violations into lawful acts, and it did not prohibit the conditions imposed in the new sentence. It was therefore not highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, and is not a new factor.

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